IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 19-1413

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

JANE DOE,
Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HON. KEVIN PARKER, DISTRICT ASSOCIATE JUDGE

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Robert J. Poggenklass, AT0012980

Iowa Legal Aid

1111 9th Street, Suite 230

Des Moines, IA 50314

(515) 243-1193

Fax: (515) 244-4618

rpoggenklass@iowalaw.org

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jane Doe applied for expungement in three separate cases, which the court consolidated on appeal. In the first, a criminal complaint was filed on August 26, 2004. App. 6. A trial information charging Doe with assault with a weapon, Iowa Code § 708.1(3) and Iowa Code § 708.2(3) and driving while revoked, Iowa Code § 321J.21, was filed September 28, 2004. App. 10. The case was dismissed on October 29, 2004. App. 21. In the second, a criminal complaint was filed on September 30, 2005. App. 8. A trial information charging Doe with domestic abuse assault with a dangerous weapon, Iowa Code § 708.2A(2)(c), was filed October 17, 2005. App. 15. The case was dismissed on December 6, 2005. App. 22. In the third case, a criminal complaint charging Doe with third-offense OWI, Iowa Code § 321J.2, was filed on November 25, 2009. App. 9. The case was dismissed on December 23, 2009. App. 23.

In all three cases, Doe filed an Application for Expungement pursuant to Iowa Code § 901C.2 on July 9, 2019. App. 24–32. The application set forth that all charges in the case had been dismissed; more than 180 days had passed since the date of dismissal; she did not plead not guilty due to insanity; she was not found incompetent to stand trial; and she had paid all court debt in that case. *Id.* A copy of each application was mailed to the Polk County Clerk of Court and the Polk County Attorney. *Id.* A Notice of Expungement Review was filed by the court in each case on July 12, 2019. App. 33–39. The order set a review for July 25, 2019 at 11 a.m. *Id.* The order informed the parties that no hearing would be held and that no party was to appear at that date and time. *Id.* The State filed a response to Doe’s expungement application on July 15, 2019, stating it had no objections to expungement so long as the statutory requirements had been met. App. 40–42.

Doe’s Expungement Applications were denied in three orders, each dated July 30, 2019. App. 43–48. The basis for the denials was the same in each case: Doe’s outstanding financial obligations in other cases. *Id.* The orders read in part, “Monies owed in other matters. See 901C.3(2)(d).” *Id.* Doe filed a Notice of Appeal in each case on August 22, 2019. App. 49–56.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As this case presents a question of statutory interpretation and no facts are at issue, no statement of facts aside from the statement of the case is necessary.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred when it denied Doe’s application for expungement because Doe owes court debt in criminal cases other than the one in which she applied for expungement.**

Preservation of Error and Scope of Review

Error is preserved based on Doe’s timely appeal of the order denying her expungement application. The district court’s order denying Doe’s expungement application presents issues of statutory interpretation, which are reviewed for correction of errors at law. *Rhoades v. State*, 848 N.W.2d 22, 26 (Iowa 2014).

Discussion

Iowa Code § 901C.2 addresses expungement of a criminal case upon dismissal or acquittal of all charges in that case. A court shall enter an order expunging the record of such criminal case upon application if the defendant establishes five things:

- (1) The criminal case contains one or more criminal charges in which an acquittal was entered for all criminal charges, or in which all criminal charges were otherwise dismissed.
- (2) All court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court have been paid.
- (3) A minimum of one hundred eighty days have passed since entry of the judgment of acquittal or of the order dismissing the case relating to all criminal charges, unless the court finds good cause to waive this requirement including but not limited to the fact that the defendant was the victim of identity theft or mistaken identity.
- (4) The case was not dismissed due to the defendant being found not guilty by reason of insanity.
- (5) The defendant was not found incompetent to stand trial in the case.

Iowa Code § 901C.2 (1)(a). Here, the district court denied Doe's application for expungement based on her outstanding court debt in cases other than the case that she asked the court to expunge. For a dismissed case to be eligible for expungement, the statute requires payment of court debt only in the case in which the defendant seeks expungement. This reading of § 901C.2 is consistent with rules of statutory interpretation.

Furthermore, the court cited to a different expungement statute, Iowa Code § 901C.3, in denying the applications, which suggests the court may have mistakenly analyzed the applications under the wrong law.

A. Considering the text of all the expungement law’s provisions together, the statute’s fee requirement applies only to the case in which the defendant seeks expungement.

The most plausible reading of the dismissal-acquittal expungement law is that its fee requirement applies only to the case in which the defendant seeks expungement. This interpretation allows both a “just and reasonable result” and one “feasible of execution.” Iowa Code § 4.4. “In interpreting a statute, we look for an interpretation that is reasonable and avoids absurd results.” *Colwell v. Iowa Dep’t of Human Services*, 923 N.W.2d 225, 233 (Iowa 2019).

The court applies statutes to resolve legal disputes by first considering the plain meaning of the statute under consideration. *See State v. Albrecht*, 657 N.W.2d 474, 479 (Iowa 2003). The court engages in statutory construction only if the terms or meaning of the statute are ambiguous. *Id.* The statute is ambiguous if reasonable minds can disagree on the meaning of particular words or after examining all a statute’s provisions. *State v. Hutton*, 796 N.W.2d 898, 904 (Iowa 2011). If the statute is unambiguous, the court applies it as written. *State v. Nall*, 894 N.W.2d 514, 518 (Iowa 2017). In assessing meaning, statutes must be considered in full rather than looking at their component parts. *See, e.g., In re Estate of Melby*, 841 N.W.2d 867, 879 (Iowa 2014) (“When construing statutes, we assess not just isolated words and

phrases, but statutes in their entirety”); *see also* Iowa Code § 4.1(38) (“Words and phrases shall be construed according to the context and the approved usage of the language”).

The provision at issue reads, “All court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court have been paid.” Iowa Code § 901C.2 (1)(a)(2). The district court interpreted that statute as requiring payment of all court debt in *all* Doe’s cases. That reading is not reasonable, particularly when that portion of the statute is read in context and as part of the whole statute. “Context is king.” *Des Moines Flying Serv., Inc. v. Aerial Servs. Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 212, 221 (Iowa 2016).

Every other requirement for expungement in the statute uses singular nouns and alludes to a singular criminal case. First, the application for expungement is to be made in *a criminal case*. Second, the defendant must establish that “*the criminal case* contains one or more criminal charges” (emphasis added). Third, the defendant must establish “a minimum of one hundred eighty days have passed since entry of the judgment of acquittal or of the order dismissing *the case*” (emphasis added). Fourth, the defendant must establish “*the case* was not dismissed due to the defendant being found not guilty by reason of insanity” (emphasis added). Fifth, the defendant must establish she “was not found incompetent to stand trial in *the case*” (emphasis

added). Finally, even the text of the provision at issue refers to court debt imposed by “*the court*” or “*the clerk*” (emphasis added).

If the legislature had intended for payment of all court debt in all cases to be a prerequisite for expungement of a single criminal case, it would have been clear to the drafters of the statute that specific language to that effect would be necessary to differentiate this section from the others, which all plainly refer to the single criminal case in which application for expungement has been made. But the legislature did not include any such language, instead listing the payment requirement alongside all the other requirements that refer to the single criminal case, which is the subject of the expungement application.

Nonetheless, in denying expungement here, the district court read this language as applying to all the defendant’s cases rather than just this one, effectively inserting three words into the court debt payment language of the statute: *in all cases*. Of course, if the legislature had intended such a requirement, it would have been easy to use those words. But the legislature did not do so. The legislature crafted specific conditions for granting expungement, and every word of the statutory enactment must be given force.

B. Other tools of statutory construction support the interpretation that the fee requirement applies only to the case in which the defendant seeks expungement.

All provisions of the Iowa Code are to be “liberally construed with a view to promote its objects and assist the parties in obtaining justice.” Iowa Code § 4.2. The tools of statutory construction set forth in that chapter are to be observed, but not if “construction would be inconsistent with the manifest intent of the general assembly, or repugnant to the context of the statute.” *Id.* As set forth below, the clear intention of the General Assembly in approving passage of Senate File 385 was to create a meaningful, accessible, and administratively feasible mechanism for expunging criminal cases that resulted in a dismissal or acquittal.

In enacting a statute, it is presumed the legislature intended “a result feasible of execution” as well as “a just and reasonable result.” *See* Iowa Code § 4.4. And in determining the intent of the legislature, this court may look to the consequences of an alternative construction. *See* Iowa Code § 4.6. Interpreting the statute to disallow expungement based on the existence of any court debt does not result in a statute that can feasibly be executed; nor, due to the administrative nightmares set forth below, does it lead to a just and reasonable result. Finally, the consequences of the construction of the statute adopted by the district court are dire.

If the statute indeed requires payment of all court costs, fees, or other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court in all cases, not just the case for which expungement was applied, this court must then ask several further questions about the scope of that requirement:

1. Does this requirement to pay all court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court apply only to criminal cases, or to civil cases as well?

2. Does it apply just to monies owed to the state, counties, or municipalities, or does it apply to monies owed to private parties based on a civil judgment?

3. Is the court responsible for determining whether debt is owed in other cases and jurisdictions, and for ruling accordingly on the expungement application, or must the State or the defendant prove or disprove the existence of any such debt? If this responsibility falls to the court, is it administratively feasible or even possible for a district court to determine whether a defendant who applies for expungement owes court debt in a case in another county or judicial district?

4. What about court debt in other states or countries? Do such debts prevent expungement of a specific criminal case in Iowa? If so, is the defendant obligated to demonstrate she owes no court debt in other jurisdictions?

When one considers the difficult questions raised by the district court's interpretation, the statute cannot mean what the district court says it means. Such a reading would render execution of the statute infeasible, and all statutes are presumed to have been enacted in such a way to be feasible of execution. Iowa Code § 4.4(4).

Importantly, the Iowa Supreme Court has previously interpreted § 901C.2 with an eye toward these practical considerations. This court should do the same. In *State v. Doe* (Iowa 2017), the court rejected the State's argument that the phrase "criminal case" in the statute means all factually-related offenses and instead found "criminal case" simply means a single numbered legal proceeding. *State v. Doe*, 903 N.W.2d 347, 349 (Iowa 2017), as amended (Nov. 15, 2017) (noting defendant's position is more sound in part because "it is easier to administer.").

Just as interpreting "criminal case" in *Doe* to include any factually-related offenses would present numerous practical problems, so would interpreting § 901C.2 as requiring payment of court costs in all other cases.

The statute could not feasibly be executed if the language at issue has the meaning the district court gave it, leading to unreasonable results and dire administrative consequences. *See State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Scott Cty.*, 889 N.W.2d 467, 473 (Iowa 2017) (“Practicality is also important. Generally, we try to interpret statutes so they are reasonable and workable”). On the other hand, a strict rule that a defendant must only pay court debt in the case the defendant seeks to expunge “can be applied predictably, quickly, and in a ministerial way.” *Doe*, 903 N.W.2d 347 at 353. Execution of the statute as interpreted by the district court would be infeasible, difficult to administer, and lead to unreasonable results.

It is also unreasonable to interpret the statute to preclude expungement of a criminal case that resulted in an acquittal or dismissal because of court debt owed in other cases. It is hard to imagine the legislature intended for an unpaid traffic ticket or court costs in a civil case to foreclose the expungement of a dismissed criminal case, the existence of which may be detrimental to the defendant.

Limiting the statute’s fee requirement to the case in which the defendant seeks expungement is also supported by other considerations courts make when determining the intention of the legislature: the object of the statute, the circumstances under which the statute was enacted, the legislative history, and

statements of policy made by the architects of the legislation. Iowa Code § 4.6.

Senate File 385 established new Iowa Code Chapter 901C relating to expungement of not-guilty verdicts and dismissed criminal charge records. It unanimously passed both chambers of the Iowa Legislature, was signed by the governor on May 1, 2015, and took effect on January 1, 2016. 2015 Iowa Acts ch. 83, § 1; *see also* 2016 Iowa Acts ch. 1073, § 188 (moving Iowa Code § 901C.1 to Iowa Code § 901C.2). The Iowa Supreme Court has noted the law apparently came about in response to this court's holding that existing laws did not allow the removal of information relating to dismissed criminal cases from the courts' statewide computerized docket. *See Doe*, 903 N.W.2d 347, 351, citing *Judicial Branch v. Iowa District Court*, 800 N.W.2d 569 (Iowa 2011).

What became Senate File 385 was originally introduced as House File 78 on January 21, 2015 and Senate Study Bill 1110 on January 28, 2015. H.F. 78, 86th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 2015); S.S.B. 1110, 86th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 2015). Those bills were identical when introduced and far less complex than the final language. *See id.* They read in relevant part, "One year after a person has been found not guilty of a charge or one year after a charge is dismissed against the person ... the charge shall be expunged by the clerk of the district

court.” *Id.* The bills contained no further requirements to get expungement. *Id.* The Senate version proceeded quickly and gained unanimous support from the Senate Judiciary Committee on March 4, 2015. An amended version of the bill was approved unanimously in the Senate and sent to the House for consideration on March 17, 2015. S. Journal, 86th Gen. Assemb., 445 (2015). The House Judiciary Committee recommended amendment and passage on April 2, 2015. H. Journal, 86th Gen. Assemb., 749–50 (2015). A strike-after amendment was adopted by the House on April 14 and the bill subsequently passed the House unanimously. *Id.* at 832–33.

Importantly, the major change to the bill in the amended version passed by the House was to make *more* cases eligible for expungement than the version initially passed by the Senate. S.F. 385 (Enrolled version), 86th Gen. Assemb., (Iowa 2015). The version that initially passed the Senate prohibited expungement of a dismissed criminal case if the person had pending charges in a related case, if the defendant was convicted of a crime in a related case, or if dismissal of the case was part of a plea bargain. S.F. 385 (Reprinted version, as amended and passed by the Senate March 17, 2015), 86th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 2015). The House version removed those prohibitions. S.F. 385 (Enrolled version), 86th Gen. Assemb. (Iowa 2015). The final version passed by the House also removed the requirement that the criminal case must

have been dismissed with prejudice or be beyond the statute of limitations, instead requiring only that all criminal charges in the case were dismissed. *Id.* Finally, the House version allowed for expungement of cases resulting in acquittal, a provision that did not exist in the Senate version. *Id.*

The Senate concurred with the amended version and passed the bill unanimously on April 16, 2015. S. Journal, 86th Gen. Assemb., 885–86 (2015). The governor signed the bill on May 1, 2015. *Id.* at 962.

The legislative record demonstrates that the intent of Senate File 385 was to remove from public view criminal cases which resulted in dismissal or acquittal. Several legislators shared stories about constituents who were unable to find work and housing due to the existence of such records, and others who were embarrassed by an unjustified charge and afraid of others discovering those records. *See* Senate Video on S.F. 385, 86th Gen. Assemb. (Mar. 17, 2015), *available at* <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=1386&dt=2015-03-17&offset=3266&bill=SF%20385&status=i>; House Video on S.F. 385, 86th Gen. Assemb. (Apr. 14, 2015), *available at* <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber=H&clip=1488&dt=2015-04-14&offset=1205&bill=SF%20385&status=r>.

Representative Chris Hagenow, the House Majority Leader at the time, was the floor manager of the bill. His statements on the floor of the Iowa House urging passage of the bill help illuminate the object sought to be attained by the statute and the policy goals of the architects of the legislation. “It’s just simply the right thing to do to make sure that people’s fundamental rights are protected,” Hagenow said. “That they [don’t]...have a lingering penalty or societal black mark for a crime for which they have been found not guilty.” *See id.*

The intent of the legislature in approving Senate File 385 was to allow a reasonable and meaningful mechanism for expungement of criminal cases resulting in dismissal or acquittal. This legislation was adopted in response to a holding finding no such mechanism existed in law, and so the legislature created one. To interpret this legislation as the district court did and as a result largely foreclosing thousands of Iowans from obtaining expungement would directly contradict that legislative intent.

Legislative inaction also strongly supports the reading urged by Doe. There have undoubtedly been thousands of applications for expungement granted in Iowa courts since the law went into effect nearly four years ago. A large portion of those would have been denied if the district court’s reading of the statute in this case was the legislature’s intent, given the staggering

amount of outstanding court debt in the state. *See* Legislative Services Agency Issue Review, Court Debt Collection (Jan. 3, 2018), available at <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/IR/916685.pdf> (noting total outstanding court debt of about \$2.687 billion in the state at the end of fiscal year 2017). This equates to approximately \$850.00 of court debt for every man, woman, and child in the state, strongly indicating many individuals with expungable cases likely have some balance of court debt. However, there is no indication that courts have been doing anything other than routinely granting applications for expungement in cases where the defendant owes court debt in other cases.

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