IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19–1413

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

JANE DOE, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HON. KEVIN PARKER, DISTRICT ASSOCIATE JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONE Polk County Attorney

JEFF NOBLE Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

Jurisdiction

Doe filed a notice of appeal from each of the orders denying expungement. *See* Notices of Appeal (8/26/19); App. 49. But there is no right of appeal from an order denying expungement. *See* Iowa Code § 814.6(1); *accord State v. Propps*, 897 N.W.2d 91, 96 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Iowa W. Racing Ass'n v. Iowa Racing & Gaming Comm'n*, 578 N.W.2d 663, 664 (Iowa 1998)) (noting section 814.6 does not create a right of appeal from a denial of a motion to correct an illegal sentence because "decisions, opinions, findings, or verdicts do not constitute a judgment" within meaning of section 814.6(1)).

However, because Doe's claim is that the district associate judge "acted illegally" by denying her motions for expungement, she "may commence an original certiorari action in the supreme court by filing a petition for writ of certiorari." *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.107(1)(a). And "if a case is initiated by a notice of appeal, but another form of review is proper, [this Court] may choose to proceed as though the proper form of review was requested by the defendant rather than dismiss the action." *Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 97 (citing Iowa R. App. P. 6.108). That would potentially solve the lurking jurisdictional problem.

This Court may also choose to treat this as a petition for a writ of certiorari and dismiss it, because Doe never put the district court on notice that she believed it had misapplied section 901C.2(1)(a)(2). Even in certiorari actions, Iowa courts will "begin with the principle, based upon considerations of fairness, that this court is not ordinarily a clearinghouse for claims which were not raised in the district court." Sorci v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Polk County, 671 N.W.2d 482, 489 (Iowa 2003); Lenertz v. Mun. Court of the City of Davenport, 219 N.W.2d 513, 515 (Iowa 1974) ("The rule is well established that in certiorari actions we will not review questions not presented to the so-called inferior tribunal."). If there were a right of appeal, then a ruling that denied Doe's motion to expunge would be minimally sufficient to preserve error on a claim that the motion should have been granted. But in the certiorari context, Doe needed to raise the claim that the district court acted illegally in denying the motion, and get a ruling. See Sorci, 671 N.W.2d at 490 (citing Iowa R. App. P. 6.301) (noting that appellate rules for certiorari actions require error preservation, because certiorari will typically be granted "only on issues presented in the district court on which the parties sought a ruling"). Dismissal is likely the best option because this argument was never made below. I. The court was correct to deny expungement. Section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) requires repayment of *all* obligations ordered by that court or assessed by the clerk of that district court, before expungement can be granted.

Preservation of Error

Doe argues that error was preserved "based on [her] timely appeal of the order denying her expungement application." See Def's Br. at 11. But filing a notice of appeal does not preserve error. "While this is a common statement in briefs, it is erroneous, for the notice of appeal has nothing to do with error preservation." See State v. Lange, 831 N.W.2d 844, 846–47 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (quoting Thomas A. Mayes & Anuradha Vaitheswaran, Error Preservation in Civil Appeals in Iowa: Perspectives on Present Practice, 55 Drake L. Rev. 39, 48 (2006)). Rather, error is preserved if the trial court's ruling "indicates that the court *considered* the issue and necessarily ruled on it." See Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012). It is troubling that Doe never advanced any argument for her reading of the statute before the district court. But her motions for expungement did state: "I have paid all my court debt in this case." Motions for Expungement (7/9/19) at 1; App. 24. The court's rulings that denied expungement necessarily rejected the view that section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) only requires payment of the costs in that specific case, because the basis for denial

was "[m]onies owed in other matters." Orders Denying Expungement (7/30/19); App. 43. In the State's view, this is minimally sufficient to preserve error for the statutory construction arguments that Doe is raising in this appeal. But it is important to remember that failure to make any arguments for this interpretation before the district court effectively deprived that lower court of any opportunity to comment on comparative ease of implementation, as a reason for Iowa courts to prefer one interpretation over another. See, e.g., Suzanna Sherry, Logic Without Experience: The Problem of Federal Appellate Courts, 82 Notre Dame L. Rev. 97, 98, 146 (2006) (arguing that courts and advocates should "promote increased appellate exposure to district court perspectives" in order to "prevent further deterioration in the functioning of district courts," and that "their immersion in the world of litigation gives trial court judges a greater appreciation of the costs and benefits of particular allocations of resources"). While the rulings are minimally sufficient to preserve error, this Court should hesitate before accepting Doe's argument that lower courts have mistakenly adopted an interpretation of section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) that is harder to implement than Doe's alternative, in the absence of findings on the comparative feasibility of each interpretation. See Def's Br. at 16–18.

Standard of Review

"We review issues involving the interpretation of a statute for the correction of errors at law." *See State v. Carpenter*, 616 N.W.2d 540, 542 (Iowa 2000).

Merits

Section 901C.2(1)(a) sets out preconditions for expungement:

- ... [T]he court shall enter an order expunging the record of such criminal case if the court finds that the defendant has established that all of the following have occurred, as applicable:
 - (1) The criminal case contains one or more criminal charges in which an acquittal was entered for all criminal charges, or in which all criminal charges were otherwise dismissed.
 - (2) All court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court have been paid.
 - (3) A minimum of one hundred eighty days have passed since entry of the judgment of acquittal or of the order dismissing the case relating to all criminal charges, unless the court finds good cause to waive this requirement for reasons including but not limited to the fact that the defendant was the victim of identity theft or mistaken identity.
 - (4) The case was not dismissed due to the defendant being found not guilty by reason of insanity.
 - (5) The defendant was not found incompetent to stand trial in the case.

Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a). The second condition was the basis for denial of expungement, because Doe owed money in other cases. *See*

Orders Denying Expungement (7/30/19); App. 43. Doe argues that the plain meaning of that second requirement is that expungement should be granted if the defendant has paid all financial obligations in the particular case that is the subject of the motion for expungement. Doe asserts that a contrary reading "is not reasonable, particularly when that portion of the statute is read in context and as part of the whole statute." See Def's Br. at 14. The State disagrees—if anything, the plain meaning of the statute forecloses Doe's preferred outcome.

"In interpreting a statute, we first consider the plain meaning of the relevant language, read in the context of the entire statute, to determine whether there is ambiguity." See State v. Doe, 903 N.W.2d 347, 351 (Iowa 2017) (citing State v. Nall, 894 N.W.2d 514, 518 (Iowa 2017)). "A statute is ambiguous 'if reasonable minds can disagree on the meaning of particular words or the statute as a whole." See Nall, 894 N.W.2d at 518 (quoting State v. McIver, 858 N.W.2d 699, 703 (Iowa 2015)). If there is no ambiguity, the plain meaning will control and no further inquiry is required. See State v. Hutton, 796 N.W.2d 898, 904 (Iowa 2011). Where ambiguity exists, Iowa courts "resort to other tools of statutory interpretation." See Doe, 903 N.W.2d at 351 (citing Nall, 894 N.W.2d at 518).

Doe notes that, in statutory interpretation, "[c]ontext is king." See Def's Br. at 14 (quoting Des Moines Flying Serv., Inc. v. Aerial Servs. Inc., 880 N.W.2d 212, 221 (Iowa 2016)). Then, Doe correctly notes that "[e]very other requirement for expungement in the statute uses singular nouns and alludes to a singular criminal case." See Def's Br. at 14. That is entirely true, and it shows that the legislature crafted four requirements that focus on the specific case to be expunged—but then omitted that limiting language from the repayment requirement.

- No convictions or pending charges in this case: Section 901C.2(1)(a)(1) requires that all of the other charges in "[t]he criminal case" have been dismissed or tried through to acquittal. Expungement may be available even if the defendant has pending charges or convictions in other criminal cases, separate from this one.
- At least 180 days passed since the end of this case: Section 901C.2(1)(a)(3) requires that at least 180 days have passed since the acquittal or dismissal in "the case." Again, charges in other cases that are still pending or more recent would not make expungement unavailable.
- An insanity defense did not prevail in this case: Section 901C.2(1)(a)(4) requires that "[t]he case" was not prosecuted and subsequently dismissed based on finding the defendant not guilty by reason of insanity. However, if a defendant was found not guilty by reason of insanity in another case, expungement may still be available.
- The defendant was not found incompetent to stand trial in this case: Section 901C.2(1)(a)(5) requires the defendant to show that they were not found to be incompetent to stand trial "in the case." Yet again, finding them incompetent to stand trial in another case would not bar expungement of unrelated case files.

But then, after including language in all of the other requirements that limits the impact of otherwise disqualifying facts in other cases, the legislature omitted that limitation from section 901C.2(1)(a)(2). Instead, it requires a defendant to show that "[a]ll court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court have been paid." See Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a)(2). That restriction is limited to financial obligations "ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court" but it is not limited to any particular case. Thus, its plain meaning is that financial obligations arising from other cases in the same county would bar the expungement of any case files from that district court, until the defendant pays everything that court ordered them to pay. Doe argues that, if the legislature had intended to achieve this result, "specific language to that effect would be necessary to differentiate this section from the others." See Def's Br. at 14-15. In truth, it is the lack of single-case language that differentiates section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) from the rest of the statute. "Intent may be expressed by the omission, as well as the inclusion, of statutory terms." See State v. Beach, 630 N.W.2d 598, 600 (Iowa 2001) (citing Marcus v. Young, 538 N.W.2d 285, 289 (Iowa 1995)). This already illustrates clear legislative intent.

Of course, Doe needs to emphasize context to escape the word that dooms her claim. Section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) requires her to show: "All court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court have been paid." See Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a)(2) (emphasis added). Doe's challenge cannot succeed unless she convinces this Court to disregard that catch-all, which it may not do. See, e.g., State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169, 176 (Iowa 2013) (quoting In re Estate of Bockwoldt, 814 N.W.2d 215, 223 (Iowa 2012)) ("We may not extend, enlarge, or otherwise change the meaning of a statute under the guise of construction."). The description of "all" financial obligations creates a requirement that includes every financial obligation that falls within boundaries drawn by the remainder of the sentence—and the rest of the sentence places those boundaries with references to that court and that clerk, rather than with a reference to the particular case file to be expunged. See Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a)(2). Using the word "all" within those boundaries, which extend beyond an individual case, reflect an intent to require repayment of all financial obligations imposed by the court for that particular county and assessed by that particular county clerk before expungement becomes available for charges in that county.

This is the only expungement requirement that is not, by its express terms, limited to the "case" where expungement is sought. This Court should read it accordingly. See, e.g., Farmers Co-op. Co. v. DeCoster, 528 N.W.2d 536, 538–39 (Iowa 1995) ("[W]here a statute with respect to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute is significant to show a different intention existed."). And section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) omits limiting terms that are present in another repayment requirement for expungement. Section 901C.1 defines "expungement" and references section 907.1, which defines expungement for the purposes of chapter 907. See Iowa Code §§ 901C.1, 907.1(3). Courts normally presume that the legislature is aware of any related enactments, and a cross-reference strengthens that presumption. That is important here because section 907.9(4)(b) creates conditions for expunging any records of a deferred judgment upon successful discharge from probation—and that provision states expungement is unavailable "until the person has paid the restitution, civil penalties, court costs, fees, or other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court in the case that includes the deferred judgment." See Iowa Code § 907.9(4)(b). The omission of similar language from section 901C.2 is deliberate.

In construing statutes, "[p]recise, unambiguous language will be given its plain and rational meaning in light of the subject matter." See Carolan v. Hill, 553 N.W.2d 882, 887 (Iowa 1996). And here, the legislature required repayment of "[a]ll court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court." See Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a)(2). The term "[a]ll" casts a wide net and, by its plain language, includes all costs that are ordered by the same district court and assessed by that court's clerk. Accord Brown v. Star Seeds, Inc., 614 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2000) (broadly construing the term "all occupations" in a statute defining calculations of earning capacity for workers' compensation claims); McKinney v. McClure, 220 N.W. 354, 356-57 (Iowa 1928) (holding "[t]his language is plain" in construing statute that empowered cities to levy taxes "upon all the taxable property" with specific exceptions). This language requires repayment of all financial obligations owed in cases from the same county. Because the provision is unambiguous both from its plain language and from omission of limiting language that appears in other requirements and other expungement statutes no further analysis is necessary. See Hutton, 796 N.W.2d at 904. This Court should only proceed further if it finds lingering ambiguity.

When ambiguity exists, Iowa courts attempt to discern the legislature's intent, which can be ascertained from "subject matter, the object sought to be accomplished, the purpose to be served, underlying policies, remedies provided, and the consequences of the various interpretations." See Cox v. State, 686 N.W.2d 209, 213 (Iowa 2004) (quoting State v. Albrecht, 657 N.W.2d 474, 479 (Iowa 2003)). In terms of the object that the legislature sought to accomplish, "[t]he legislature could reasonably condition expungement on payment of costs in order to incentivize defendants to satisfy court debt." See State v. Doe, 927 N.W.2d 656, 658 (Iowa 2019). Iowa has a massive amount of outstanding court debt. "The total outstanding court debt at the end of FY 2017 was \$731.9 million. Outstanding court debt has grown by 410.4% since FY 1998." See Legis. Serv. Agency, Issue Review: Court Debt Collection, at 4 (Jan. 3, 2018) (footnote omitted), available at https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/IR/916685.pdf. The legislature's hope to motivate repayment of all unpaid court debt could rationally lead it to require those seeking expungement to repay all financial obligations owed to that particular district court before they become eligible to petition that court to segregate their records, which is "a matter of legislative grace." See Doe, 927 N.W.2d at 660.

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